1992

# Margaret B. Hall v. Process Instruments and Control, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction to hear and determine this  
matter pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 78-2a-3(2)(j).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

(1) Whether the District Court's Conclusion of Law that:

"Plaintiff's claim that the employment agreement  
was entered into in lieu of alimony fails because,  
absent written agreement to the contrary, alimony  
terminates upon remarriage"

is contrary to law. This is solely a question of law reviewable  
under the "correction-of-error" standard. See Western Kane  
County Special Serv. Dist. No. 1 v. Jackson Cattle Co., 744 P.2d  
1376 (Utah 1987).

(2) Whether the District Court's "Conclusion of Law" that:

"Plaintiff fail (sic) to establish that the meaning or intent of the employment agreement was anything other than its clearly written terms which would give rise to an enforceable agreement under any one of the legal theories advanced during the course of this litigation"

is supported by the record. This is a question of fact reviewable under the "substantial evidence" standard. See George v. Peterson, 671 P.2d 208 (Utah 1983).

(3) Whether the District Court's "Conclusion of Law" that:

"The employment agreement is clear and unambiguous on its face and not subject to change by parole (sic) evidence"

is supported by the record and in accordance with the law. This is both a question of fact and one of law. The factual aspect is reviewable under the "substantial evidence" standard. See George v. Peterson, 671 P.2d 208 (Utah 1983). The legal aspect is reviewable under the "correction of error" standard. See Western Kane County Special Serv. Dist. No. 1 v. Jackson Cattle Co., 744 P.2d 1376 (Utah 1976).

(4) Whether the District Court abused its discretion in refusing to allow Brent Turley to testify regarding John Hall's offer to make the down-payment on the residence which Mr. Hall purchased from Mr. Turley in the form of an employment agreement with Mr. Hall's company. This issue is reviewable under the "abuse of discretion" standard. See Intermountain Physical Medicine Associates v. Micro-Dex Corporation, 739 P.2d 1131 (Utah 1987).

### **DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES**

Pursuant to Rule 24(a)(6) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, Plaintiff sets forth verbatim the following determinative statute.

#### **Section 30-3-5(5), Utah Code Ann.**

Unless a decree of divorce specifically provides otherwise, any order of the court that a party pay alimony to a former spouse automatically terminates upon the remarriage of that former spouse. However, if the remarriage is annulled and found to be void ab initio, payment of alimony shall resume if the party paying alimony is made a party to the action of annulment and his rights are determined.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **I. Nature of the Case**

This is an appeal from the final Judgment of the Third District Court ruling that "Plaintiff have judgment against the Defendant of no cause of action."

#### **II. Statement of Facts**

(1) At all relevant times prior to June 8, 1981, Plaintiff (then Margaret B. Hall and for the sake of simplicity hereinafter referred to as "Mrs. Hall") and Defendant's President and sole shareholder, John A. Hall, were husband and wife. (R. 00148 and Addendum 1 attached hereto)

(2) On or about February 20, 1981, John A. Hall filed an action in the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, civil no. D-81-695 (the "Divorce Action"), seeking to terminate the marital relationship then existing between himself and Mrs. Hall. (See Trial Exhibit 6-P)



(3) On or about June 8, 1981, a Decree Of Divorce was entered in the Divorce Action dissolving the marital relationship between Mr. and Mrs. Hall. (R. 00148 and Addendum 1 attached hereto)

(4) The Decree Of Divorce provided that Mrs. Hall would receive no alimony. (Trial Exhibit 6-P)

(5) On or about February 20, 1981 (approximately the same date as that upon which Mr. Hall filed the Divorce Action) Mrs. Hall entered into an agreement with Defendant which was nominally entitled "Employment Agreement". (R. 00148 and Addendum 1 attached hereto)

(6) Under the terms of the so-called Employment Agreement, Defendant agreed to pay Mrs. Hall \$1,000.00 per month commencing March 1, 1981, and continuing through February 1984. Defendant also agreed that Mrs. Hall would be entitled to participate in Defendant's Profit Sharing Plan. (Trial Exhibit 1-P)

(7) Neither Mrs. Hall nor Defendant ever intended that Mrs. Hall would go to work for Defendant under the so-called Employment Agreement. (Trial Tr. p. 18, line 13 through p. 19, line 14; p. 29, lines 21-25; p. 30, lines 19-24; p. 43, lines 10-13; p. 44, lines 9-12)

(8) The consideration which Defendant requested and which Mrs. Hall agreed to provide in exchange for Defendant's promises under the so-called Employment Agreement was Mrs. Hall's promise to forego any claim which she might have had to receive alimony in connection with the Divorce Action simultaneously taking place between Mrs. Hall and John A. Hall. (Trial Tr. p.19, lines 5-14; p. 44, lines 9-12)

(9) Mrs. Hall in fact never went to work for Defendant under the so-called Employment Agreement. (R. 00149 and Addendum 1 attached hereto)

(10) In spite of the fact that Mrs. Hall never went to work for Defendant, Defendant paid Mrs. Hall the sum of \$15,000.00 over a period of approximately fourteen and one-half months in accordance with the terms of the so-called Employment Agreement. (R. 00149 and Addendum 1 attached hereto)

(11) In or around May of 1982, Defendant discontinued payments to Mrs. Hall under the so-called Employment Agreement. (R. 00149 and Addendum 1 attached hereto)

(12) Mrs. Hall remarried on or about May 31, 1982, shortly after Defendant's termination of payments to her under the so-called Employment Agreement. (R.00149 and Addendum 1 attached hereto)

(13) Mrs. Hall filed her original Complaint commencing this action on or about May 25, 1992. (R. 00002)

(14) Thereafter, Mrs. Hall moved to the State of Arizona with her new husband and (with the exception of the filing of Defendant's Motion To Dismiss on March 23, 1982; which was submitted for decision on November 23, 1990; and which was denied by the District Court on November 30, 1990) this action remained inactive until on or about June 26, 1990, when Mrs. Hall's new counsel filed a Motion For Leave To File Amended Complaint. (R. 00016)

(15) The District Court granted Mrs. Hall's motion to amend on September 13, 1990. (R. 00022)

(16) The District Court entered a PRE-TRIAL ORDER jointly prepared by the parties on November 16, 1992. (R. 00148 and Addendum 1 attached hereto)

(17) A bench trial of this action was held before the Honorable John A. Rokich on November 14, 1991. (R. 00153)

(18) At the conclusion of the trial, Judge Rokich took the matter under advisement. (R. 00153) On March 4, 1992, Judge Rokich entered Judgment that Mrs. Hall "have judgment against Defendant of no cause of action." (R. 00169 and Addendum 2 attached hereto)

(19) Mrs. Hall timely filed her Notice Of Appeal on April 2, 1992. (R.00175)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

(1) The Defendant corporation's obligations under the Employment Agreement did not terminate upon Mrs. Hall's remarriage.

The district court ruled that Defendant's obligations under the Employment Agreement terminated automatically upon Mrs. Hall's remarriage by virtue of the provisions of Utah Code Annotated § 30-3-5(5). It is Mrs. Hall's position that Section 30-3-5(5), U.C.A., did not terminate the Defendant corporation's obligations under the Employment Agreement upon her remarriage for three reasons. First, the Employment Agreement is not an "order of the court". Section 30-3-5(5) expressly applies only to "any order of the court". More importantly, the Employment

agreement was not entered into by parties to divorce proceedings; it was entered into by Mrs. Hall and the Defendant corporation. Finally, the Defendant corporation was obviously not paying Mrs. Hall alimony; corporations do not pay alimony. The Defendant corporation was paying Mrs. Hall to forego any right which she might otherwise have had to seek alimony in the Divorce Action simultaneously taking place between Mrs. Hall and Defendant's President and sole shareholder.

(2) The district court's findings of fact and conclusions of law with respect to the "parol evidence rule" are neither supported by substantial evidence nor in accordance with the law.

The parol evidence rule only applies to exclude evidence of contemporaneous conversations, statements, or representations of the parties for the purpose of varying or adding to the terms of a written agreement where the written agreement was intended by the parties to represent their full and complete agreement. In the case at bar it is clear that neither party intended for the Employment Agreement to represent their full and complete agreement. Both parties, as well as the attorney that drafted the Employment Agreement on Defendant's behalf, testified that there were contemporaneous oral agreements between the parties relating to its subject matter which were not included in the Employment Agreement.

Furthermore, the circumstances of this case clearly reveal that Defendant's contention that Mrs. Hall was intended to go to work under the so-called Employment Agreement is preposterous and not supported by substantial evidence.

Moreover, Judge Rokich made it very clear both at the time Defendant moved to dismiss after Mrs. Hall rested her case and again during closing argument that he considered absurd Defendant's contention that the parties intended that Mrs. Hall would be required to go for Defendant under the Employment Agreement.

Even if the parol evidence were otherwise applicable, however, the rule does not prevent the introduction of evidence to show that there was a different consideration supporting Defendant's obligations under the Employment Agreement than that stated in the agreement itself.

Finally, while the terms the Employment Agreement may not be ambiguous, the character of the agreement itself is ambiguous rendering the parol evidence rule inapplicable.

(3) The district court abused its discretion in disallowing the testimony of Brent Turley.

Mrs. Hall attempted to introduce (and preferred) the testimony of Mr. Brent Turley that, when Mr. Hall purchased Mr. Turley's home, Mr. Hall offered to pay the down payment on the home in the form of an employment agreement with his company pursuant to which Mr. Turley would receive a monthly "salary" and benefits, but would not be required to go work for Mr. Hall's company. The district court sustained Defendant's objection to Mr. Turley's testimony on the grounds of relevance.

Mrs. Hall submits that, contrary to the District Court's ruling, Mr. Turley's testimony would clearly have been relevant. Mr. Hall's offer to pay the down payment on the purchase of Mr.

Turley's home shows that on at least one other occasion Mr. Hall had used an employment agreement with his company as consideration for a personal obligation under circumstances in which it was clear that the "employee" would not be required to actually go to work for Mr. Hall's company. Accordingly, it is Mrs. Hall's position that the district court abused its discretion in disallowing Mr. Turley's testimony.

#### ARGUMENTS

(1) The Defendant corporation's obligations under the Employment Agreement did not terminate upon Mrs. Hall's remarriage.

The Pre-Trial Order governing the trial of this matter identified the first "Question Of Law Remaining For Determination" as:

Whether Defendant's obligations under the Employment Agreement terminated automatically upon Plaintiff's remarriage by virtue of Utah Code Annotated Section 30-3-5(5).

(R. 00148 and Addendum 1 attached hereto)

In its Conclusions Of Law, the District Court answered this first question in the affirmative. (R. 00172 and Addendum 3 attached hereto) It is Mrs. Hall's contention that the District Court's ruling on this question is contrary to law.

Section 30-3-5(5), UCA, provides in pertinent part that "Unless a decree of divorce specifically provides otherwise, any order of the court that a party pay alimony to a former spouse automatically terminates upon the remarriage of that former spouse." (Emphasis added).

There are at least three reasons why § 30-3-5(5) did not operate to terminate Defendant's obligations under the Employment Agreement. First, the Employment Agreement is not an "order of the court". Section 30-3-5(5) expressly applies only to "any order of the court." More importantly, however, the Employment Agreement was not entered into between parties involved in divorce proceedings; it was not entered into between Mrs. Hall and Mr. Hall. It was entered into between Mrs. Hall and the Defendant Process Instruments and Control, Inc., a Utah corporation. Finally, the Defendant corporation was obviously not paying Mrs. Hall "alimony"; it was paying her to forego any right to alimony which she might otherwise have had in connection with the Divorce Action simultaneously taking place between Mrs. Hall and Defendant's President and sole shareholder.

Accordingly the District Court's Conclusion Of Law that:

"The Plaintiff's claim that the employment agreement was entered into in lieu of alimony fails because, absent written agreement to the contrary, alimony terminates upon remarriage"

is contrary to law and should be set aside.

(2) The District Court's findings of fact and conclusions of law with respect to the "parol evidence rule" are neither supported by the evidence nor in accordance with the law.

The Employment Agreement provides that Mrs. Hall "agrees to faithfully perform the duties assigned to her to the best of her ability and to devote such time and skills as shall be necessary therefor." (Trial Exhibit 1-P). It is Mrs. Hall's position that, notwithstanding this language, the parties never intended that she would ever go to work for Defendant. Rather, the

consideration being given by Mrs. Hall was her agreement to forego any right to alimony which she may have had in connection with the Divorce Action.

Accordingly, the Pre-Trial Order identifies the first "Factual Dispute Remaining For Trial" as:

Whether the consideration given by Plaintiff for Defendant's promises under the Employment Agreement was her agreement to forego any claim to alimony in connection with the divorce proceeding simultaneously taking place between Plaintiff and Defendant's President and sole shareholder, John A. Hall.

(R. 00150 and Addendum 1 attached hereto)

At trial, Mrs. Hall testified that, notwithstanding the language of the Employment Agreement, neither she nor Defendant ever intended that she would actually go to work for Defendant. (Trial Tr. at p. 18, lines 13 through p. 19, line 14; p. 29, lines 21-25; p. 30, lines 19-24; p. 43, lines 10-13; p. 44, lines 9-11).

Mrs. Hall also proffered <sup>1</sup> the testimony of Mr. Brent Turley that "Mr. Hall offered to purchase ... Mr. Turley's home, using as the down payment an employment contract just like the one we [have] here [under] which Mr. Turley would be an employee of [Mr. Hall's] company, receive salary and benefits in exchange for the down payment on his home." (Trial Tr. at p. 60, lines 16-22) Mr. Turley's testimony was being offered to show that Mr. Hall had on at least one other occasion used an employment

---

<sup>1</sup> The District Court sustained Defendant's objection to Mr. Turley's testimony on the grounds of relevance. Trial Tr. at p. 60, lines 14-15. That this ruling was erroneous will be demonstrated in part (3) below.



contract with his company as consideration in connection with his own personal obligations under circumstances where it was clear that neither party intended that the "employee" would actually go to work for Mr. Hall's company.

Defendant, however, objected to the introduction of any evidence to support Mrs. Hall's contention that, despite the language of the Employment Agreement, the parties never intended that she would ever go to work for Defendant on the basis that such evidence was barred by the "parol evidence rule".

Accordingly, the Pre-Trial Order identifies the second "Question Of Law Remaining For Determination" as:

Whether the "Parol Evidence Rule" precludes Plaintiff from introducing evidence of contemporaneous conversations, statements, or representations of the parties for the purpose of varying or adding to the terms of the Employment Agreement.

(R. 00150 and Addendum 1 attached hereto)

In its Conclusions of Law, the District Court ruled with respect to the parol evidence issue as follows:

6. Plaintiff fail (sic) to establish that the meaning or intent of the employment agreement was anything other than its clearly written terms ...

7. The employment agreement is clear and unambiguous on its face and not subject to change by parole (sic) evidence.

(R. 00172-73 and Addendum 3 attached hereto)

As will be demonstrated below, Conclusion of Law number 6 is in reality a finding of fact which is not supported by substantial evidence and Conclusion of Law number 7 is contrary to law.

The operation and effect of the parol evidence rule was explained by the Utah Supreme Court in Colonial Leasing Co. v. Larsen Bros. Const., 731 P.2d 483, 486 (Utah 1986):

[The parol evidence rule] operates ... to exclude contemporaneous conversations, statements, or representations offered for the purpose of varying or adding to the terms of an integrated contract.

(Emphasis original).

Of greater importance to the case at bar, the Court further explained that "the parol evidence rule applies only if it was intended by the parties to represent the full and complete agreement of the parties ..." 731 P.2d at 486 (emphasis added). In determining whether a particular contract was intended by the parties to be an integrated agreement, the trial court must weigh all relevant evidence, both parol and written. See, e.g. Colonial Leasing, 731 P.2d at 487; and Webb v. R.O.A. General, Inc., 804 P.2d 547, 551 (Utah App. 1991).

In the case at bar, it is absolutely clear that neither party intended for the Employment Agreement to represent their "full and complete agreement".

Mrs. Hall will first marshal the evidence in support of Defendant's contention that the Employment Agreement was intended to be the "full and complete agreement" between the parties:

1. First, there is the Employment Agreement itself, which appears to be clear and unambiguous on its face. (Trial Exhibit 1-P)

2. Second, Mr. Hall testified that the Employment Agreement was nothing more than an agreement pursuant to which Mrs. Hall would be paid \$1,000.00 per month and receive benefits to come to work for the Defendant. (Trial Tr. at p. 84, lines 12-16)

3. Finally, the attorney that drafted the Employment Agreement on behalf of the Defendant, Mr. Peter Ennenga, testified that he did not know one way or the other whether the Employment Agreement represented the full and complete agreement between the parties. (Trial Tr. at p. 137, line 14 through p. 38, line 21)

Mrs. Hall submits that under the circumstances of this case, the evidence marshalled in support of Defendant's contention that the Employment Agreement was intended by the parties to represent their "full and complete" agreement is not substantial. Besides Mrs. Hall's testimony that neither party ever intended that she would actually go to work for Defendant, the following evidence further demonstrates beyond question that the Employment Agreement was never intended to represent the parties' full and complete agreement:

1. Even though Mrs. Hall never went to work for Defendant for even one minute, Defendant sent Mrs. Hall \$15,000.00 at the rate of \$1,000.00 per month over a period of approximately fourteen and one-half months. (R. 00149 and Addendum 1 attached hereto) Ironically, Defendant attempted to explain this extraordinary circumstance as the result of an alleged oral agreement reached between the parties at the time of the execution of the Employment Agreement. Mr. Hall testified that, in light of the fact that Mrs. Hall was ill and needed money to live on, Defendant orally agreed to pay her \$1,000.00 per month salary even though she would not be expected to come to work until she had recovered from her illness (Mr. Hall testified that he anticipated that might be about six months). Preposterously,

Mr. Hall further testified that the alleged oral agreement was that Mrs. Hall would be required to repay Defendant for the salary received by her prior to the time when she actually went to work for Defendant by working for an identical period of time without any compensation after the expiration of the three year term of the agreement. (Trial Tr. at p. 64, lines 8-22). In his published deposition testimony, Mr. Hall explained how this curious orally agreed to arrangement would work:

Question: ... Would this agreement, this oral agreement that is not part of this employment contract ... suppose the six-month period in which Mrs. Hall was sick actually came to pass and []at the end of six months she came to work [] after that, and the contract terminates ... February 28, 1984, would she reimburse the company by performing services for an additional six months after that period for free?

Answer: Essentially, that is correct. It is not for free, she was paid in advance.

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