1992

Margaret B. Hall v. Process Instruments and Control, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

³² Record on appeal pp. 172-173

³³ *Webb v. R.O.A. General, Inc.*, 804 P.2d 547 (Utah App. 1991)[citations omitted]

the witnesses, the evidence, and the parties. *DeVas v. Noble*, 13 Utah 2d 133, 137, 369 P.2d 290, 293 (1962). Accordingly, because the evidence is sufficient to support the determination of the court below, we do not undertake to reweigh the evidence or redetermine the facts. We will not disturb the trial court's determination that there was no agreement between the parties as alleged by plaintiff. See *Ringwood v. Foreign Auto Works, Inc.*, 671 P.2d 182 (Utah 1983) .

First Margaret claims that the consideration given to PIC was her agreement to forego her claim to alimony against John and secondly she claims that the agreement, contrary to its written terms was an agreement to pay a lump sum of \$36,000.00 in \$1,000.00 per month installments.

In support of her first claim Margaret cites this court to a portion of the record where Judge Rokich stated "I believe this is nothing more than an alimony agreement. ...**I'm not making that judgment, but I will take it under advisement.**"³⁴ Significantly Margaret failed to quote the emphasized portion of the transcript, nor to advise this court that the statement by Judge Rokich was at the close of **Plaintiff's** evidence. Defendant had not presented its case at that point. Upon hearing all of the evidence Judge Rokich was apparently persuaded that the agreement was not an alimony agreement, but rather an agreement which provided Margaret with insurance and income benefits during a period of illness.

Perhaps the most telling testimony presented on the subject of whether the employment agreement had been entered into in lieu of alimony was that of Peter Ennenga who testified that he was a friend of both parties,³⁵ that he had refused to represent either in a

³⁴ Record on appeal p. 251 [emphasis supplied]

³⁵ Record on appeal p. 292, l. 5

contested divorce,³⁶ but that he had later processed an uncontested divorce for them³⁷ and that he had drafted the employment agreement.³⁸ Mr. Ennenga was emphatic, and despite persistent cross examination by Margaret's counsel, did not waiver on the point that the employment agreement was not entered into upon consideration of Margaret waiving her claimed right to alimony.³⁹

The simple explanation for why payments had been made for 14 months was that Margaret had been ill at the time the agreement was executed and it was not contemplated that she would immediately go to work, but that she would commence her employment upon her recovery.⁴⁰ When she had recovered and was able to go to work she obtained other employment and was ultimately terminated by PIC.

The second prong of Margaret's argument is not supported by any evidence whatsoever. No one testified and no document supports her claim that the employment agreement was for a lump sum payable in installments. No pleading makes such a suggestion and in fact the theory arose for the first time in closing arguments.

Margaret suggests that she has marshalled all of the evidence in support of the trial court's factual findings. She acknowledges that the agreement is clear and unambiguous on its face. She acknowledges that both John and attorney Peter Ennenga testified that the

³⁶ Record on appeal p. 292, l.l. 9-15

³⁷ Record on appeal p. 293, ll. 9-22

³⁸ Record on appeal p. 314, ll. 11-14

³⁹ Record on appeal p. 297, l. 13

⁴⁰ See testimony of Peter Ennenga, Record on appeal pp. 297-299; 310

agreement was not entered into in lieu of alimony, which was contrary to her contention.

Margaret then goes on to characterize the explanations given for why she continued to receive benefits even after she had recovered from her illness and had obtained other employment as "comical."⁴¹ The fact that John's memory of events which had transpired ten years previously became confused upon cross-examination proves nothing. That the company continued to pay Margaret after it might have otherwise terminated her is not evidence of an agreement to pay a lump sum in installments. One can speculate that perhaps she was paid because she was such an incredibly difficult ex-wife concerning the sale of John's house that no one wanted the responsibility of terminating her prior to that date, or perhaps a payroll clerk felt sorry for her, or perhaps that she concealed her working for another company, or perhaps almost any other explanation, but it is all speculation and does not constitute evidence.

If a party is attempting to prove that the plain meaning of a written agreement was not what the parties intended, it appears that the minimum she should have to do is show what was really intended. Margaret has failed to prove her case. If the employment contract didn't have the plain meaning of its words, then what was it? Judge Rokich asked Margaret's

repeatedly what he claimed the agreement represented.⁴² Clearly there is ample support of the fact that it was not an agreement to pay alimony. Margaret had no antenuptial agreement prior to her marriage to John. The Decree of Divorce provides that she will not receive alimony. Margaret did not testify that the agreement was a settlement agreement, much less anyone else.

Appellant's brief p. 15

Record on appeal p. 329

In *Webb v. R.O.A. General, Inc.*, 804 P.2d 547 (Utah App. 1991) this court has quoted *State Bank of Lehi v. Woolsey*, 565 P.2d 413, 418 (Utah 1977) "parol evidence of 'contemporaneous conversations, representations or statements will not be received for the purpose of varying or adding to the terms of the written agreement'. Therefore, in most instances, where a binding agreement exists, whether completely or partially integrated, evidence of prior or contemporaneous agreements or discussions is not admissible to contradict terms of the written agreement. RESTATEMENT (SECOND), CONTRACTS § 215."

IV

The trial court properly disallowed the testimony of Brent Turley.

A. There was no abuse of discretion.

According to Brent Turley's preliminary testimony and counsel's proffer, the gist of Mr. Turley's disallowed testimony was that, sometime in 1977, John verbally offered to purchase Brent Turley's house using an employment contract for the down payment.⁴³ Margaret contended this evidence was relevant to show that John had a supposed tendency or propensity to use employment contracts in certain contexts having to do with personal obligations. The trial court, however, had ample reason to determine that this episode (the "Turley episode") was irrelevant to this case. Thus, there was no abuse of discretion in disallowing Brent Turley's testimony.

The Turley episode was so attenuated from this case as to be irrelevant for several

⁴³ Record on appeal p.p. 0238 and 0239.

reasons. First, the episode was remote in time from the facts of this case, having occurred some five years previously. Although the issue of remoteness generally goes to the weight, rather than admissibility of evidence, it is clearly a factor in the weighing process used to determine relevance and admissibility.⁴⁴ The more remote in time an event is, the less its probative value becomes.⁴⁵ Thus, at some point in time, the probative value of evidence, such as prior specific acts, becomes nil. Evidence of no probative value is irrelevant by definition and therefore inadmissible.⁴⁶

It is unclear exactly when any given type of evidence loses its probative value due to the passage of time. Moreover, no Utah civil cases deal with the effect of time on propensity evidence such as the Turley episode would have presented. But the relevance of evidence similar to the Turley episode has been addressed elsewhere, and this provides guidelines for this court to determine whether the trial court abused its discretion in disallowing Brent Turley's testimony.

In *Rocky Mountain Helicopters, Inc. v. Bell Helicopters Textron , A Division of Textron, Inc.*,⁴⁷ the appellate court ruled the trial court had correctly deemed as irrelevant, a chief pilot's evaluation of another pilot's skills five *months* before an accident. The five month time frame was too remote with respect to the accident and, hence, the trial court properly disallowed its introduction to show the pilot was acting in a similar manner on the

⁴⁴ *Terry v. Zion's Coop. Mercantile Inst.*, 605 P.2d 314, 330 n.30 (Utah 1979).

⁴⁵ *Weber Basin Water Conservancy Dist. v. Ward*, 10 Utah 2d 29, 347 P.2d 862 (1959).

⁴⁶ UTAH R. EVID. 401 and 402 (1992); *see Shorr v. Unsell*, 497 P.2d 1060 (Idaho 1966) (when remoteness becomes so great that there is no probative value, proffered evidence should be excluded).

⁴⁷ 805 F.2d 907 (10th Cir. 1986).

day in question.⁴⁸

In *Leigh v. Swartz*,⁴⁹ the plaintiff had sued for fraudulent misrepresentations involving a real estate contract. The Arizona court held that a real estate closing statement involving the subject property and created 10 1/2 months before the contract was inadmissible. It was too remote in time and the conditions were not shown to be the same.

The Utah Supreme Court in *Jensen v. Logan City*, addressed the issue of remoteness in the context of negligence actions and has held that the trial court did not err in allowing testimony as to the condition of a wire fence two hours before the accident.⁵⁰ In assessing the impact of remoteness on the trial court's decision to allow or exclude evidence of previous conditions the Court said:

Between certain limits it must be left to the trial court to determine whether the observations of a witness [are] too remote to be probative. . . . It is that class of cases which lie in the zone where minds could reasonably differ as to whether the observation was too remote. . . . [that] the matter should be left entirely to the trial judge's discretion.⁵¹

Although the context of that case differs, the concept is applicable. Roughly five years passed between the time of the Turley episode and the execution of the contract at issue. That is 12 times the amount of time at issue in *Rocky Mountain Helicopters*, and over 5 times the amount of time in *Leigh*. Notably, the evidence that was held admissible in *Jensen*, was evidence of conditions only two *hours* prior. Whether an occurrence is too

⁴⁸ *Id.*

⁴⁹ 74 Ariz. 108, 245 P.2d 262 (1952).

⁵⁰ 89 Utah 347, 57 P.2d 708 (1936).

⁵¹ *Id.* at 717 (citing 1 WIGMORE ON EVIDENCE, 517, § 438).

remote to be relevant is a fact sensitive inquiry and many factors may impact it. But here, based on the length of time alone, it cannot be said that the trial abused its discretion in ruling evidence of the Turley episode as irrelevant.

Remoteness aside though, there are other factors from which the trial court could determine Mr. Turley's testimony was irrelevant. In addition to time, the relevance of specific instance evidence of other contracts has been held in Utah to depend on two factors: (1) identicalness of the contracts and (2) similarity of the parties to the contracts.⁵² With respect to identicalness, the circumstances of the Turley episode differ so radically from the contract at issue here as to make them incomparable. For example, the Turley episode had nothing to do with alimony or agreements to forgo alimony, which was the eventual thrust of Margaret's argument at trial. Nor is there any conceivable explanation of how an offer on real estate could relate to the contractual dispute in this case. Finally, and the trial court made specific note of this fact, no contract ever resulted from the Turley episode. Thus, there is no identicalness between the Turley episode and the employment agreement.

The issue of similarity of parties also points to irrelevancy. PIC and Margaret are the parties to this action, but neither of them was a participant in the Turley episode. Nor did that episode involve persons remotely similar to the parties in this action. Admittedly, Margaret's counsel opined that John Hall made an offer to Turley as "agent" for PIC. But if, by comparing the contract at issue to the Turley episode, Margaret seeks to ascribe the acts of the defendant PIC to John Hall, or vice versa, she must fail. The issues of alter ego and piercing the corporate veil were *never* raised at trial, nor alleged in any pleading. And

⁵²

See *Leger Construction Inc. v. Roberts, Inc.*, 550 P.2d 212 (Utah 1976).

absent this, the Turley episode is completely irrelevant to this case.

Thus, the excluded testimony was amply attenuated from this case in terms of time, subject matter and the parties involved. The trial court had a substantial basis to determine its probative value was nil and exclude Mr. Turley's testimony. There was no abuse of discretion.

B. The Utah Rules of Evidence prohibit the admission of Brent Turley's testimony.

Even if it were slightly relevant, the Utah Rules of Evidence obligated the trial court to exclude Mr. Turley's testimony. Those rules state that even relevant evidence of certain kinds is not admissible if the rules of evidence so provide.⁵³ Just such a prohibition operates in this case, for those rules also state:

Evidence of other . . . acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith.⁵⁴

The Turley episode had no direct bearing on this case; it was evidence of an act offered merely to show that Mr. Hall somehow acted in conformity with that act on a subsequent occasion. Thus, it falls squarely within that type of propensity evidence that is generally inadmissible under Rule 404(b).

It appears that at the appellate level, this rule has only been applied in criminal cases in Utah. Perhaps this is because the general consensus is that, even without Rule 404(b),

⁵³ UTAH R. EVID. 402 (1992).

⁵⁴ UTAH. R. EVID. 404(b) (1992).

propensity or character evidence is inadmissible in civil trials - period.⁵⁵ Nonetheless, Rule 404(b) is applicable and has been applied in civil cases.⁵⁶

Although not mentioned specifically, Rule 404(b) was an implicit basis on which the trial court excluded testimony about the Turley episode. Evidence of prior specific acts may be admissible if introduced to show something other than that the party acted in conformity with that prior act, *e.g.* to show knowledge or plan.⁵⁷ Following counsel's proffer of Brent Turley's testimony, the court stated: "You've got to show more than just one other occasion. That may be a method under which he operates, but nevertheless I don't see where it's relevant to this case."⁵⁸ Thus the court determined that even if it was a method under which John operated, the proffer of the episode was inadequate to show a common scheme or plan.⁵⁹ Indeed, under these circumstances, had the trial court admitted Brent Turley's testimony, it would have committed error by admitting evidence that is inadmissible under the rules of evidence.

C. If Exclusion of Brent Turley's testimony was error, it was harmless error.

⁵⁵ WEINSTEIN ON EVIDENCE, ¶ 404(01) (July 1992); 1A WIGMORE, EVIDENCE, § 64 (Tiller's Rev. 1983).

⁵⁶ *Rocky Mountain Helicopters*, 805 F.2d 907 (10th Cir. 1986); *see* *Turley v. State Farm Mutual Auto Ins. Co.*, 944 F.2d 669 (10th Cir. 1991) (evidence of prior bad acts admissible in civil case to show intent, knowledge, lack of mistake, etc.).

⁵⁷ UTAH R. EVID. 404(b) (1992); *see* *State v. Hamilton*, 174 Utah Adv. Rep. 7, (1991) (for evidence of another specific act to be admissible, it must have some purpose other than showing that the charges are consistent with the defendant's character).

⁵⁸ Record on appeal p. 239.

⁵⁹ And it was clearly inadequate as evidence of habit under UTAH R. EVID. 406 (1992).

The rule is that, to be reversible, an error must have been substantial and prejudicial; unless there is a reasonable likelihood that a more favorable result would have been obtained absent the error, the error is harmless.⁶⁰ Applied here this means that even if Brent Turley's testimony had some probative value, excluding it was harmless error. First, there were three other witnesses who gave *direct* testimony about the formation of the contract at issue. Brent Turley's indirect testimony offered little, if anything, that was not already addressed by evidence of more probative value. Thus, there was a significant quantity of separate competent evidence upon which the trier of fact could base its findings.

Second, this was a nonjury trial. Judge Rokich heard Margaret's counsel's proffer as to Brent Turley's testimony and, indeed, he acknowledged that "[t]hat may be a method under which he operates."⁶¹ Thus, even if Brent Turley's testimony was not formally "admitted," it cannot be said that the Turley episode went unnoticed or was not given the weight it deserved.⁶² Indeed, even had it been "admitted", its probative value would have been virtually nil, as the finder of fact, understandably, could not see its relevance. Such an "error" is neither substantial or prejudicial; nor would the result have been likely to differ. Hence, exclusion of the testimony, if error it was, was harmless error.

CONCLUSION

The judgment of the lower court should be affirmed. The lower court's findings of